



MICROCOPY RESOLUTION TEST CHART NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS-1963-A

Research and Development Technical Report CECOM -81-C-0085-3

FIELD EXPEDIENT REPAIR OF FIBER OPTIC CABLES

LAURENCE N. WESSON TRW INC. Electronic Components Group Research and Development Laboratories Philadelphia, PA. 19108

MAY 1983

INTERIM REPORT FOR PERIOD 1 NOVEMBER 1982 - 30 APRIL 1983

DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT Approved for public release, distribution unlimited.



prepared for :

COPY

FILE

JE

U.S. ARMY COMMUNICATIONS - ELECTRONICS COMMAND FORT MONMOUTH, NEW JERSEY 07703

83 10 31 021

NOTICES

....

DISCLAIMERS

The citation of trade names and names of manufacturers in this report is not to be construed as official Government indorsement or approval of commercial products or services referenced herein.

DISPOSITION

Destroy this report when it is no longer needed. Do not return it to the originator.

FIELD EXPEDIENT REPAIR OF FIBER OPTIC CABLES

CONTRACT NO. DAAK80-81-C-0085

INTERIM REPORT FOR PERIOD

1 November, 1982 - 30 April, 1983

PREPARED FOR:

US ARMY CECOM FORT MONMOUTH, NEW JERSEY 07703

PREPARED BY:

TRW INC. ELECTRONIC COMPONENTS GROUP RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMEN' LABORATORIES PHILADELPHIA, PENNSYLVANIA 19108

APPROVED BY:

Kemfleth M. Merz Manager/Fiber Optics Research

APPROVED BY:

Vind S Massin

David E. McElroy Director/Research & Development Labs.

-1-

REPORT DOCUMENTA	TION PAGE	READ INSTRUCTIONS
1. REPORT NUMBER		BEFORE COMPLETING FORM 3. RECIPIENT'S CATALOG NUMBER
CECOM-81-C-0085-3	AD-A134276	
4. TITLE (and Subitio)		5. TYPE OF REPORT & PERIOD COVERED
Field Expedient Repair of Fi	her Ontic Cables	Interim Report 1 November,1982-30 April,198
Tere Expedient Repuir et II		6. PERFORMING ORG. REPORT NUMBER
		6. PERFORMING ORG. REPORT NUMBER
7. AUTHOR() Laurence N. Wesson		8. CONTRACT OR GRANT NUMBER(*) DAAK80-81-C-0085
9. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME AND AN		10. PROGRAM ELEMENT, PROJECT, TASK AREA & WORK UNIT NUMBERS
TRW Inc./Electronic Componen Research and Development Lab 401 North Broad Street	s.	
Philadelphia, Penna, 19108		
11. CONTROLLING OFFICE NAME AND ADDRES	55	12. REPORT DATE
DRSEL-COM-RM-1		May, 1983 13. NUMBER OF PAGES
Fort Monmouth, New Jersey 0		
14. MONITORING AGENCY NAME & ADDRESS(II DCASMA Philadelphia	different from Controlling Office)	15. SECURITY CLASS. (of this report)
P.O. Box 7730		Unclassified
Philadelphia, Penna. 19108		15. DECLASSIFICATION/DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE
16. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of this Report) Approved for public release; 17. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the abstract	distributors unlimit	
Approved for public release;	distributors unlimit	
Approved for public release; 17. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES	distributors unlimit entered in Block 20, 11 different for	an Report)
Approved for public release; 17. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES	distributors unlimit entered in Block 20, 11 different for e requested to forwar	a comments and/or recommend-
Approved for public release; 17. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES Recipients of this report ar ations concerning technical 19. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if nece	distributors unlimit entered in Block 20, 11 different in e requested to forwar aspects of this effor	m Report) d comments and/or recommend- t to address in Block 11.
Approved for public release; 17. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES Recipients of this report ar ations concerning technical	distributors unlimit entered in Block 20, 11 different in e requested to forwar aspects of this effor	m Report) d comments and/or recommend- t to address in Block 11.
Approved for public release; 17. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES Recipients of this report ar ations concerning technical 19. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if nece Fiber Optics Cable Splice Field Splice	distributors unlimit entered in Block 20, 11 different in e requested to forwar aspects of this effor	m Report) d comments and/or recommend- t to address in Block 11.
Approved for public release; 17. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES Recipients of this report ar ations concerning technical 19. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if nece Fiber Optics Cable Splice	distributors unlimit entered in Block 20, 11 different in e requested to forwar aspects of this effor	m Report) d comments and/or recommend- t to address in Block 11.
Approved for public release; 17. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the abstract 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES Recipients of this report ar ations concerning technical 19. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse eide if nece Fiber Optics Cable Splice Field Splice Fiber Optic Splice 34. AMETRACT (Continue on reverse eide N mere	distributors unlimit entered in Block 20, 11 different in e requested to forwar aspects of this effor	d comments and/or recommend- t to address in Block 11.
Approved for public release; 17. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the abstract 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES Recipients of this report ar ations concerning technical 19. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse elds if nece Fiber Optics Cable Splice Field Splice Fiber Optic Splice 24. AMSTRACT (Continue on reverse elds if nece)During this semi-annual peri Expedient Splice Kit (FESK) ed. 10 Interim Splices were to CECOM. The remaining 5 w	distributors unlimit entered in Block 20, 11 different for e requested to forwar aspects of this effor meany and identify by block number of the first and seco were operated, evalua assembled with the F ere held for environm	na Report) d comments and/or recommend- t to address in Block 11.
Approved for public release; Approved for public release; T. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract Recipients of this report ar ations concerning technical S. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if nece Fiber Optics Cable Splice Field Splice Fiber Optic Splice Fiber Optic Splice Management Splice Kit (FESK) ed. 10 Interim Splices were to CECOM. The remaining 5 w splice work a novel method o tested. As a result of these	distributors unlimit entered in Block 20, 11 different in e requested to forwar aspects of this effor secary and identify by block number of the first and seco were operated, evalua assembled with the F ere held for environm f scribing and breaki e developments the th d and mode led. Eval	d comments and/or recommend- t to address in Block 11.
Approved for public release; Approved for public release; 17. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract Recipients of this report ar ations concerning technical 19. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse elde if nece Fiber Optics Cable Splice Field Splice Fiber Optic Splice 24. ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse elde if nece During this semi-annual peri Expedient Splice Kit (FESK) ed. 10 Interim Splices were to CECOM. The remaining 5 w splice work a novel method o tested. As a result of thes splicing machine was designed validity of its operation pr	distributors unlimit entered in Block 20, 11 different in e requested to forwar aspects of this effor recery and identify by block number, od the first and seco were operated, evalua assembled with the F ere held for environm f scribing and breaki e developments the th d and mode'led. Eval inciples, and the fir	d comments and/or recommend- t to address in Block 11.

	CONTENTS	Page #
	List of Illustrations	4
	List of Tables	5
	Preface	6
1.	Introduction	7
2.	Technical Development	
	2.1 FESK I Brassboard	
	2.1.1 Design and Operation	8
	2.1.2 Fiber End Quality	11
	2.1.3 Splice Yield and Insertion Loss - Original Cleaver	12
	2.1.4 Fiber End Preparation - New Cleaver	17
	2.2 FESK II	
	2.2.1 Design	20
	2.2.2 Model	21
	2.2.3 Human Factors Engineering Improvements	22
	2.3 FESK III	
	2.3.1 Design	23
	2.3.2 Model	25
	2.3.3 Splicing Procedure	26
	2.4 Tactical Field Splice	30
3.	Conclusions: Project Status and Future Work	33
4	References	34

-3-

10.00

2

tion For • _ ٩ A Berry

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

Figure #		Page #
1.	FESK I Splicing Machine	8
2.	Original Fiber Cleaving Device	9
3.	Schematic Diagram of Splice Loss Measurement System	13
4.	Schematic Diagram of "Crossed Fiber" Cleaving Method	18
5.	FESK II Wooden Mock-Up	21
6.	Assembly Drawing of FESK III Splicing Machine	24
7.	FESK III Wooden Mock-Up	25
8.	Tactical Field Splice with Prepared Cable in Sled Ready for Insertion	29

٠.-

. . .

.

LIST OF TABLES

15 18 18 A

Table #		Page
1.	Insertion Losses of 20 Selected Fiber Pairs Pre-	14
	pared with the FESK I Cleaver	
2.	Preliminary Splice Yield and Insertion Loss Data -	15
	Original Cleaver	
3.	Preliminary Test of New Fiber Cleaver	19
4.	Splice Yield and Insertion Loss Data - New Cleaver	31

PREFACE

This is the third Semi-Annual Report for the work being performed under contract number DAAK80-82-C-0085, "Field Expedient Repair of Fiber Optic Cables". The funding for the development of the repair system is provided by the U.S. Army Communications - Electronics Command (CECOM). Technical direction and coordination is provided by Claire E. Loscoe, the cognizant engineer at CECOM.

The development work performed to date represents the efforts of: Henry D'Amico, Design Engineer; Dr. Malcolm H. Hodge, Manager, Fiber Optic Products Operation; Joseph F. Larkin, Senior Mechanical Engineer; Dr. Kenneth M. Merz, Manager, Fiber Optics Research; Jeffrey Ogilvie, Jr., Designer; Charles T. Smith, Fiber Optics Technician; Laurence N. Wesson, Program Manager; and John G. Woods, Program Manager during the first year of the program. Through December, 1982, all were members of the TRW Electronic Components Group, Research and Development Laboratories, in Philadelphia. On 1 January, 1983, Messrs. Hodge, Ogilvie, and Woods were re-assigned to the Fiber Optic Products Operation of the TRW Connectors Division, and Mr. Wesson assumed management of the program.

-6-

1. INTRODUCTION

In the preceding 6 months a brassboard splicing machine, denoted the FESK I, was built and tested with ITT-EOPD tactical fiber optic cable. Splices were assembled in the first splice housing designed. The repair procedure was developed and evaluated for speed, effectiveness, simplicity, and ease of performance. As a result of this study an improved splice machine was designed. This "FESK II" retained many of the advantageous features of the basic splicing method, particularly operations oriented specifically to the use of the TRW 4-rod alignment guide. At the same time it corrected the perceived deficiencies of the FESK I in such areas as the fiber stripping and cleaving action and the overall size and weight. The splice housing was also redesigned to incorporate a novel sled concept for the two prepared cable ends and to insure that the two main housing halves were not separable or susceptible to loss.

During the past 6 months a wooden mock-up of the FESK II was assembled to evaluate the operation of this new design. At the same time a large number of trial fiber cleaves and complete splices was performed with the FESK I. A human factors engineer examined the FESK II for its layout, ease of operation, and general suitability for field use, and he recommended several improvements. As a result of these several developments a further body of changes was designed into the splicing machine. The result, FESK III, was modelled in wood.

This report details these activities in 4 major areas. Under "FESK I" is described the considerable body of single fiber loss and end quality data generated in evaluating the original cleaving method and its successor. The section on the FESK II lays out the design and advantages of the second splicer. The areas identified for improvement, either by experimentation or by expert analysis, are noted. The resulting FESK III is covered in the following section. Its improved features are noted, and the latest splicing procedures are described in detail. Lastly, the splice housings themselves are described. The data derived from the experimental assembly of 10 interim splices are covered, and the various resulting improvements to the splice design are described.

-7-

2. TECHNICAL DEVELOPMENT

2.1 FESK I BRASSBOARD

2.1.1 DESIGN AND OPERATION

The FESK I splicing machine is shown in figure 1. This machine has been described in detail elsewhere¹. No significant changes were made to this splicer except in the fiber cleaving mechanism. Work on this feature of the system will be addressed at length because it is significant to the later development of the FESK III.



Figure 1. FESK I Splicing Machine

The fiber cleaving mechanism designed for the FESK I is shown sketched in figure 2. In essence it consisted of a carbide wheel for nicking an exposed fiber, a flat platform on which the fiber rested, and a pair of elastomeric pads which clamped the fiber below the nick site and through which the fiber was pulled after nicking.

The fiber platform was constructed of teflon to prevent abrasion of the bare fibers and to allow easy passage of the carbide wheel. At one side of the platform, away from the fiber optic cable and the resilient pads, was provided a notch or



groove to locate the fiber and prevent it from slipping sideways.

The carbide wheel was mounted on a counterbalanced freely-pivotting arm. This arm was in turn located on a precision linear ball slide. This arrangement of elements provided that the carbide wheel could roll easily over a fiber with unconstrained vertical freedom and a controllable degree of downward force. Forward/backward motion was accomplished by pushing or pulling the scriber carriage on its ball slide.

The resilient pads were originally flat and parallel. During early experiments at TRW it had been found that good fiber cleaves could be made by pulling a nicked fiber through such plane parallel pads under a certain degree of pressure. During this reporting period, however, it was found that the yield was not as good as desired, and various alterations were made in the shape of the pads to improve the yield. The form settled on consisted of a convex lower pad with a concave (with a larger radius of curvature) pad above it.

The entire clamp pads/fiber platform/carbide wheel carriage assembly was mounted on a work platform on a slide rail.

In operation this cleaving system was used in the following manner: 1) The stripped fiber was threaded between the open clamp pads, across the scribe platform, and into the lateral registration notch. The length of the fiber was controlled by a crimped aluminum ferrule which was retained in the crimp plier jaws during this cleaving operation. During placement of the fiber in the cleaver the clamp pads were held open and the carbide wheel carriage was retained in its rear position. The entire work platform was held at its rightward-most position on the slide rail, where its location was controlled by a set screw.

2) The fiber clamp pads were closed and clamped.

3) The carbide wheel was slid forward on its carriage to cross the fiber once and come to a stop. No pressure was exerted on the wheel or its hinged mounting arm other than that provided by the weight of the wheel itself, offset by the counter weight.

-10-

4) The entire work platform was slid to the left away from the fiber optic cable on its slide rail. This action resulted in the nicked fiber being pulled through the resilient pads under pressure. As a result of the bending, the pressure, and the tension on it, the fiber would break at the site of the nick.

2.1.2 FIBER END QUALITY

To evaluate the potential quality of the fiber ends prepared by this method, independent of any other factor, a large number of single $50/125\mu$ ITT fibers was cleaved with the FESK I carbide wheel cleaving system. After selection of those with proper lengths and apparently good ends, 20 fiber pairs were tested for insertion loss when mated in 4-rod alignment guides. The guides were pre-filled with alcohol for index matching, and they were not mounted in splice housings.

The loss data are presented in Table 1. Every junction except one showed an insertion loss of less than 1 dB. The mean loss value was 0.38 dB, with a standard deviation of 0.57 dB. If the single high loss value were disregarded, the average and standard deviation would become 0.27 and 0.26 dB, respectively.

These data, while demonstrating the potential quality of the fiber ends prepared with the FESK I cleaver, did not address the question of yield, which is discussed in the following paragraph.

-11-

2.1.3 SPLICE YIELD AND INSERTION LOSS - ORIGINAL CLEAVER

Several experimental 2-fiber splices were assembled on ITT-EOPD tactical cable with the FESK I and the length and insertion loss measured. Fiber ends were prepared with the carbide wheel cleaver. The alignment guides were pre-filled with index-matching silicone oil. Loss values were obtained by comparison of the light power received through the two spliced fibers compared to baseline power levels measured before the cable was cut. The test set-up is shown schematically in figure 3.

The data obtained are presented in table 2. It should be noted that all attempts at each operation were recorded; thus an indication of the yields of different steps in preparing a splice was obtained. Most operations yielded a very high success rate; these included the outer and inner jacket strips and the Kevlar and registration ferrule crimps. The percentage of successful fiber strips, at 93%, was judged acceptable.

However, the carbide wheel fiber cleaving system presented a problem. Both the yield of proper lengths and (especially) the insertion loss values were found unacceptable. Several causes were determined for these results:

- Unreliable scribing by the carbide wheel, often too light or too hard.
- The high pressure on the fiber in the curved clamp pads made it very susceptible to particles of dust or glass which could precipitate cleaves at the wrong location.
- Mechanical tolerances in the delicate wheel/counterweighted arm/ ball slide assembly made the cut fiber lengths very difficult to control.

-12-



-13-

فأرفأه فأرجا والمتحد والمتكمة والمتكمة والمتك

TABLE 1. INSERTION LOSSES OF 20 SELECTED FIBER PAIRS PREPARED WITH THE FESK I CLEAVER

and the second second

CONNECTION #	ALIGNMENT		
	GUIDE #	RECEIVED POWER (µW)	LOSS (dB)
1	1	0.087	0.15
2	2	0.086	0.20
3	3	0.084	0.30
4	4	0.085	0.25
5	5	0.088	0.10
6	6	0.077	0.68
7	7	0.086	0.20
8	8	0.088	0.10
9	9	0.088	0.10
10	10	0.088	0.10
11	11	0.086	0.20
12	12	0.075	0.79
13	13	0.087	0.15
14	14	0.087	0.15
15	15	0.089	0.05
16	16	0.088	0.10
17	17	0.072	0.97
18	18	0.050	2.55
19	1	0.084	0.30
20	2	0.086	0.20

baseline optical power = $0.090 \ \mu W$ LED current = 50.5 m.A average insertion loss = 0.38 dB standard deviation = 0.57 dBfiber = $50/125\mu$ ITT-EOPD hytrel jacketed index matching fluid = alcohol

-14-

AND INSERTION LOSS DATA - ORIGINAL CLEAVER
ON LOSS DATA - 0
LOSS
INSERTION
R
LICE YIELD A
SPLICE
PRELIMINARY SPLICE YIELD AND INSE
TABLE 2

Ŀ

Ite Strip Crian Munitum Jacket Loss Crian Luss Crian Strip Cleane Cleane Cleane Cleane Strip Cleane Cle				11			Luannel 1	_			Channel 2	7	
1 A V	Splice	Side	Jacket Strip	Jacket Strip	Kevlar Crimp	Aluminum Crimp	Jacket Strip	Cleave	Insertion Loss (dB)		Jacket Strip	Cleave	Insertion Loss (dB)
Image Image <th< td=""><td>ı</td><td><</td><td>></td><td>``</td><td>></td><td>></td><td>~</td><td>*></td><td></td><td>~</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></th<>	ı	<	>	``	>	>	~	*>		~			
		æ	>	>	`>	,	•	1	ı		head		
1 A /		1	`*	`	`	•	•	•	•	• `	VP210	• `	ı
- 1 A Crises too - too 100 B C C 2 tries too - 100 100 B C C C C 11:7 C 100 B C C C C C 11:7 C C 100 B C				-	•	•	>	>	1.0	>	>	>	14.5 (broken
B / / 2 tries too - / <td< td=""><td>1 - 1</td><td>×</td><td>></td><td>></td><td>~</td><td>~</td><td>``</td><td>۲</td><td>ı</td><td>` </td><td></td><td></td><td>[JDGI]</td></td<>	1 - 1	×	>	>	~	~	``	۲	ı	` 			[JDGI]
- 2 A /		-	~	`	. ``				I	• `	•	>	•
- 2 A () () () () () () () () () (•	•	•	7 11169	long	ı	> 	>	too lone	ı
8 /	•	4	>	>	>	`	>	>	•	>	`		•
- 2 A (11.7) 11.7 1 1		8	>	>	>	\$	ı	4	1	`` 	`	broke	•
- 2 A () broke		=	>	>	`	`	. 💊	>	11.7	>	`	~	-0.75
-1 A / / / broke - / / broke - / / broke broke broke - / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /	۲	<	>	>	`>	>	>	broke	ı	1	,		
B /		=	>	>	>	` *	>	>	٩	``	م	`	I 1
-1 A () () () () () () () () () (æ	`>	>	>	`>	>	>	ł			e dor d	,
-1 A (/ / / broke / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /	•	:	>	>	>	>	>	~	8.8	• •	• >		5.2
-I A (
<pre>/ / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /</pre>		×	>	>	>	>	broke	1	۱	~	``	>	ı
<pre>/ / / / too 16.6 / too insertion loss (8 completed channels) = 9.16 dB standard deviation Outer jacket strip Inner jacket strip Kevlar crimp Aluminum (registration) crimp Fiber jacket strip Cleaves to length Inter jacket strip Inter jac</pre>		:	>	>	~	>	>	>	۲	>	`>	>	1
<pre>insertion loss (8 completed channels) = 9.16 dB standard deviation = 6.33 dB Outer jacket strip Inner jacket strip Kevlar crimp Aluminum (registration) crimp = 100% Fiber jacket strip Cleaves to length Tricenter to length Tricenter to length</pre>		2	>	~	►.	~	>	too short	16.6	>	>	too short	16.2
standard deviation = 6.33 Outer jacket strip = 100% Inner jacket strip = 100% Kevlar crimp = 100% Aluminum (registration) crimp = 93% Fiber jacket strip = 93% Cleaves to length = 72%		Average	insertic	on loss (8	complete	d channels				-			
Criap 		Yields:			deviation rip	_	11 11						
crimp =			Kevlar	laundu au r crimp			11 11		100% 100%				
"			Alumir Fiber	num (regis jacket st	_	crimp	11 14		1005				
			Cleave Inșert	es to leng	a P	or lace	11 1		725				

12

-15-

The motion of the work platform during the sliding operation along the slide rail was unavoidably uneven and jerky due to binding. This made it practically impossible to achieve a smooth even pull on the fiber during cleaving, with the result that the fiber was much more likely to succumb to any imperfections in the scribing or the clamps.

To avoid or mitigate these problems a novel fiber cleaving system was substituted for the original method on the FESK 1. The binding problem of the work platform on its slide rail was addressed by an innovative swinging arm mechanism for the fiber strippers and cleaver, introduced on the FESK II.

2.1.4 FIBER END PREPARATION - NEW CLEAVER

Figure 4 shows a schematic diagram of the "crossed fiber" cleaving method. As installed on the FESK I this method employed a flat wooden surface on which a fiber to be cleaved was placed. Attached to the platform, and crossing it perpendicular to the fiber (and under it) was a second short length of optical fiber of the same size as the ITT-EOPD 125µ fiber used in this program. The fiber to be cleaved was clamped against the platform and the crossed fiber with a large flat rubber pad mounted on the same clamp device used in the original cleaver.

The operational sequence for the new cleaver on the FESK I was as follows:

- Lay the stripped fiber on the wooden platform, across the crossed (fixed) fiber. The work platform is at its rightwardmost position on the slide rail.
- Clamp the flat rubber pad on the fibers, compressing them against the work surface.
- 3) Slide the entire work platform to the left along the rail. This action has the effect of pulling the fiber to be cleaved out through the clamps under combined longitudinal tension and lateral compression against a precisely-located flaw-inducing element (the crossed fiber). As the original flawed point of contact moves away from the crossed fiber it develops, under tension, into a complete high quality cleave.

After assembling the new cleaving device on the FESK I machine a series of test splices was assembled and measured for insertion loss while the crossed fiber position, length adjustment, pad pressure, and stripper position were continuously adjusted. This tuning process used splices #(3)-2 through (3)-13.

-17-



Following the adjustment and development process a series of single fiber cleaves was made to determine the intrinsic success rate. The following data were noted: number of failures to break at all, number of incorrect lengths, and number of poor ends (irregular faces or face angles more than 2⁰ from the fiber axis). The results are presented in Table 3.

As can be seen from these somewhat remarkable results, the method was capable of exceptionally high yields of good quality fiber cleaves to the proper length. The cautionary consideration was that the preliminary test was performed by pulling the fiber from the cleaver, rather than the cleaver from the fiber. On the FESK I machine, as discussed above, the cleaver on the slide rail had an unavoidable tendency to bind and jerk to some degree during a supposedly smooth slide. Further, introducing the complications of cable and fiber crimps on a

Table 3.

PRELIMINARY TEST OF NEW FIBER CLEAVER

<u>Trial</u>	Break	Length	End Condition
1	yes	correct	square and flat
2	**	11	19 97 97
3	**	11	17 38 17
4	**	**	17 17 17
5		. 11	17 11 11
6	**	91	en 11 17
7	**	**	17 IT IT
8	**	**	17 98 17
9	**	11	11 11 11
10	**	**	PT 19 11

fully terminated cable would be expected to affect the yield. Nevertheless, the early results with the new cleaving method led us to employ it for the assembly of the interim splices on the FESK I brassboard splicer (see section 2.4).

-19-

2.2 FESK II

2.2.1 DESIGN

This version of the splice kit was designed during the preceding period and is described in some detail in reference 1. Briefly, it incorporated a number of changes deemed necessary in initial handling of the FESK I machine. Among these improvements were:

- Positive action toggle clamps for the cable jacket stripper blades.
 In the FESK I the stripper blade slide employed a spring action return, which was found to be unreliable.
- Butt-closing stripping blades in place of overlapping blades. This allowed simpler design as well as a reduced possibility of jacket shreds clogging the mechanism.
- Placement of the two (inner and outer) jacket strip functions in separate blade/clamp assemblies.
- Re-arrangement of the crimping pliers for easier access with gloved hands.
- Considerably reduced tool platform area.
- considerably reduced weight.
- A combination rotating/swinging arm assembly for the crucial fiber stripping and cleaving tools. This assembly replaced the work platform on a slide rail, which was easily susceptible to binding. This novel arm assembly, by substituting a rotating action, vastly reduced the risk of binding and consequent bumpy movement which appeared to contribute significantly to the fiber strip and cleave failures on the FESK I.
- Enlarged two-station jaws for the aluminum registration crimp pliers. This allowed the pliers to crimp both fibers simultaneously. An enlarged fiber guide assembly with a springloaded lid was provided around the pliers to allow easy insertion of the two fibers into their respective registration ferrules and later easy removal after crimping, stripping, and cleaving.
- Parallel mounting of two Utica fiber strippers to strip both fiber jackets at once.

- Enlargement of the fiber cleaving assembly to cleave both fibers at the same time.

2.2.2 MODEL

A wooden mock-up of the FESK II (shown in Figure 5) was built during these 6 months to verify the proper functioning of the new design ideas. In almost all regards it fulfilled expectations.

Several minor shortcomings were noted and corrected in the FESK III. Among these were the susceptibility of the cantilevered swinging fiber stripper/cleaver assembly to shock or vibration in transit. Other areas for improvement were noted by the human engineering specialist or developed during the experimental work with the FESK I. These will be discussed at length in the following sections.



WOODEN MOCK-UP OF THE FESK II SPLICING MACHINE

-21-

2.2.3 HUMAN FACTORS ENGINEERING IMPROVEMENTS

The FESK II mock-up was examined by a human factors engineer from Armament Systems, Inc., acting as consultant to CECOM. On the basis of his recommendations the following changes were made to the FESK II or planned for incorporation in the final deliverable (FESK III) kits:

- A shield was planned to cover the carbide fiber-scribing wheel to prevent the operator from handling the wheel or its mounting arm directly and thus affecting the force of its contact with the fiber. This change was rendered moot by the implementation of the new cleaving system on the FESK III.
- Improve the fiber guide slots on the splice sleds to hold the projecting fibers more straight and ease their insertion in the plastic funnels and the alignment guides.
- Numbers will be printed on the various stations of the FESK III to remind the operator of the sequence of splice assembly operations.
- Tape dust covers will be provided over the dirt-sensitive parts of the splice prior to use.
- Enlarged serrated shears will be provided for cutting the Kevlar strength members. The shears chosen have proven both unusual facility for cutting the tough Kevlar and ease of operation by a person wearing gloves.
- Eliminate the splice "nest" on the machine. This is a major weightsaving change.
- Eliminate the toggle clamp operation of the two parallel fiber coating strippers. Operation of the strippers is more direct and obvious with a simple hand grip.

-22-

2.3 FESK III

2.3.1 DESIGN

The third and final version of the Fiber Optic Splice Kit was designed during this period based on the considerable experience gained with the first two models. An assembly drawing of the FESK III machine is shown in Figure 6.

The principle improvements over the FESK II are as follows:

- The two cable jacket strippers are combined in a single blade with a single toggle clamp. This eliminates both the size and weight of the second stripper, and avoids leaving a redundant element in cases where the cable to be spliced has only a single jacket.
- Improved strength member retention ferrule crimper jaws. The new design both guarantees properly tight crimps and provides pull strengths in excess of 400 lb.
- Crimp plier oriented sideways to save board space and reduce kit weight.
- Refined bell-mouth fiber guide channels around the registration crimp pliers to more smoothly orient the fibers in position for crimping, stripping, and cleaving.
- Considerable reinforcement was added to the swinging fiber stripper/ cleaver assembly to improve shock and vibration tolerance. This consisted of gussets and an extended bar on the end of the assembly for engagement by a latch for shipping.
- Implementation of the new cleaving system in the form of a flat work surface with a slightly protruding carbide blade and a rubber pad on a toggle clamp. Bell-mouth guides were provided to direct the two stripped fiber ends in position on the cleaving station.

-23-



.

، مار العسم الع

2.3.2 MODEL

A wooden mock-up of the FESK III splicing machine was constructed to verify the latest design changes in advance of ordering the first deliverable "brassboard" splicer. This model is shown in Figure 7, with major features identified.



FIGURE 7.

WOODEN MOCK-UP OF FESK III SPLICER

As a result of work with the model, all new design features were verified and the first brassboard FESK III was ordered. Delivery is expected early in the next 6-month period.

2.3.3 SPLICING PROCEDURE

Using the FESK III the assembly process for a field splice may be summarized as follows:

- 1. The damaged section of the cable is cut away cleanly with the shears.
- A stainless steel ferrule is slipped over one cable end and slid down a few inches.
- 3. The cable end is inserted in the outer-jacket strip station until it reaches the stop in the length gauge. The stripper blades are closed with the toggle clamp and the cable pulled through by hand to expose the inner jacket and Kevlar strength members.
- 4. The Kevlar is folded back over the stainless ferrule on the uncut portion of the cable, and a brass crimp sleeve is passed over the inner jacket to cover the folded-back Kevlar and stainless ferrule.
- 5. The exposed inner jacket is inserted in the second station of the re-opened jacket stripper blades. The stripper is again closed and the cable pulled through once more to expose the plastic-jacketed individual fibers.
- 6. The end of the jacketed portion of the cable, with the aligned stainless ferrule, folded-back Kevlar, and brass sleeve, is laid in the jaws of the first crimper. Closing the crimper handles until they release automatically completes the strength-retention crimp.
- 7. A pair of aluminum fiber registration crimp tubes, with plastic liners, is placed in the jaws of the second crimper. These tubes will be pre-packaged in an easily_handled tape.

- 8. The two jacketed fibers are fed into the bell-mouthed channels of the second crimp station until they pass through and into the two fiber strippers. The Kevlar crimp is laid into the slot provided.
- 9. The second crimper is compressed until it releases, simultaneously completing both fiber registration crimps.
- 10. The latch on the fiber strip/cleave assembly is released. Fiber stripping is accomplished by closing both strippers with one hand and pulling the swinging arm back in a single smooth motion.
- 11. The strip/cleave assembly is rotated 90°, while in the open position, to align the cleaving mechanism with the protruding fibers. A pin prevents the arm from closing until and unless the assembly has been fully rotated to its new position to prevent possible damage to the fibers. The arm is then closed again. The bell mouths on the cleaver guide the fibers into their proper positions on the cleave platform.
- 12. The toggle clamp of the cleaver is closed, clamping both fibers in place. The assembly is then pulled open once more in a single smooth motion, automatically cleaving both fibers to the proper length.
- 13. The spring-loaded cover of the registration crimp station is opened, and the terminated cable is lifted out of the machine ready for insertion in the splice.

14. One of the two sleds is removed from the splice housing, and the terminated cable end is pressed down into the appropriate slots of the sled. This includes placing the stainless/brass Kevlar crimp into the end slot, the two prepared fibers into their respective slots, and the aluminum registration crimps into the appropriate cavity. At this point the exposed fibers protrude approximately 0.1 inch beyond the end of the sled.

-27-

- 15. The dust seal tape is now removed from the alignment guide assembly in the center of the splice, and the sled with the prepared cable is slid into its channel in the splice housing (see Figure 8). By this action the optical fibers automatically enter the plastic guide funnels straight and parallel. As insertion is completed and the sled is dropped down into place the fibers enter the flared ends of the oil-filled 4-rod guides and penetrate precisely to the centers.
- 16. The preceding sequence is then repeated for the other end of the cable to be spliced. When the second sled is completed and slid into place the respective ends of the two mating fibers have been brought to an accurate alignment, in contact, at the centers of the two 4-rod guides.
- 17. The housing lid is then closed and latched, completing the splice. By virtue of the latching action the foam gasket and the ridges in the cable entry holes are compressed to seal out dust and moisture.

-28-



.



Figure 8. Tactical Field Splice With Prepared Cable In Sled Ready For Insertion.

•

2.4 TACTICAL FIELD SPLICES

Using the newly adjusted "crossed-fiber" cleaver on the FESK I, a series of complete tactical splices was assembled and tested for yield and insertion loss. The results are given in Table 4. As in the earlier test series with the original cleaver (Table 2), the cable jacket strip and crimping operations had a 100% yield. The fiber jacket strip yield, at 95%, was statistically close to the 93% value obtained in the first test series.

The fiber cleave operation and the insertion loss yields both showed great improvement, from 72% to 98% and 25% to 85%, respectively. The few insertion loss values above 1 dB were judged due to insufficient durability in the makeshift cleaving device, which allowed the crossed fiber to shift laterally or crack under the stress of the test fiber being pulled across it. These shifts and cracks were apparent during the test sequence and were taken into account during the design of the FESK III splicer. Nevertheless, at an average loss of 0.58 dB and a yield of at least 85%, the new cleaving system became accepted as the method of choice for the final deliverable splice kits.

Completed splices (3)-16, (2)-3, (1)-3, (4)-1, and (5)-1 were forwarded to CECOM in fulfilment of CLIN 0001 of the contract. The remaining 5 (#'s (6)-1, (7)-1, (8)-3, (9)-1, and (10)-1) were retained for environmental testing during the coming 6-month period.

As a result of our experience with the splices, a few minor design changes were made for the "final repairs", to be delivered at the end of the contract. These include changes in the stainless Kevlar crimp ferrules for greater pull strength (consistent with the new crimp plier jaw design), a slightly different size for the brass crimp tube to allow its being cut from stock diameter tubing, rounded ends on the sleds to ease their insertion into the splice housing, narrower

-30-

		Outer	Inner			Channel	T			Channel	2	
Splice #	Side	Jacket Strip	Jacket Strip	Kevlar Crimp	Aluminum Crimp	Jacket Strip (Cleave	Insertion Loss (dB)	Aluminum Crimp	Jacket Strip	Cleave	Insertion Loss (dB)
(3)-14	<	\			~		short?		`	•	short?	
	m) :	``	> >	``	> >	``	• >	- 11-2	> >	broke	• ~ •	- 0-
(3)-15	<	ر در		. ~ ~	. ~ ~	· •	, . .		. ~ ~	· • •		
(3)-16	• <	(same	as (3)-15)	•	•	•	•	7.0	•	•	•	C • 1
(2)-2	⊴ < :	`	``	` ``	`	broke	> 1 \	2.1	~ . ^	~ • ^	~ (^	0.1
•	= ea -		~~{	• •	* *	• •	``	1.0	×	* *	• •	- broke on insertion
(2)-3	< #		as (2)-2)	`	`	•	`	0.7	`	`	`	c
(1)-3	. < 4	• •	• • •	• • • •	• • •	• • •	. ``	; , ,	. `>`	• • •	• • •	
(4)-1	• <	`	> `> '	> > '	> `> `	~ ~	>	°.,	<u> </u>	~ ~	~ ~	e ,
(5)-1	≈ <	> 	> >	>>	> >	>>	>>	6.0	``	> >	~ ~	-0.2 -
1-(9)	4	>>	••	• •	> >	>>	>>	0	<u>کر ا</u>	`~` `	~ `	-0.2
1 -10	< 44	• •	• •	• •	• •	~ ~	• •	0.3	• •	» ` >	• •	-0.1
1-(2)	< a	•••	• • •	· • •	, , , ,				. ~ .			
	a =		• •	• •	• •	• •		• •	• `>		• `•	0.3
(8) -1	< «	``	> >	> >	~ `	`	/ chort?	، ر د	<u> </u>	~ ~	• •	, 4
(8) -2 (8) - 1	•	replaced	ed crossed fiber,	fiber, tested	9	ģ	adjusted length	(3.5)	• •	• •	• •	(3.4)
n- (2	(10)	• `•	• •	• `•	• `•	• •	• `•	• •	• •	• •	• `•	1.3
1-(6)	< 4	`	ر د ر	, , ,		· •	~ ~		·	· •• •		
(10)-1	• <	• •	• •	• •	~ ~	s `s	×	°.'	· `	> >	• •	• •
	æ	`	•	>	>	>	`	0.3	` 	`	>	0.5
			Average (omit	Average insertion loss (2 (omitting(3)-14 channe	.oss (26 comp channel 1 an	completed channels) 1 and (8)-2 and tre	completed channels) 1 and (8)-2 and treating					
			negat as ze	negative loss values (as zero)	ilues (power	greater th	power greater than baseline)	ne) =	0.54 dB			
			Standard	Standard deviation				•	0.68 dB			
			Yields:	Outer jacket	tet strip			H	1001			
				Inner jacket	tet strip			N	1001			
				Kevlar crimp	da				1001			
				Aluminum (Aluminum (registration) crimp) crimp		H	1001			
				Fiber jacket strip	et strip			•	9 5 8			
				Cleaves to length) length			u	\$ 86			
					:	•						

-31-

fiber guide slots on the sleds, and ridges in the cable entry slots to enhance the moisture seal.

Further changes were made in the splice design to make the parts readily amenable to fabrication by die casting (aluminum) or molding (Lexan). These changes essentially consisted of making wall thicknesses more uniform. It was anticipated that early in the next period the 50 final splice housings would be ordered fully tooled in one of the two materials of choice.

3. CONCLUSIONS: PROJECT STATUS AND FUTURE WORK

The design iterations of both the splicing machine and the splice housing itself have now been completed. After extensive experimentation and evaluation, every possible shortcoming has been addressed and every desirable change implemented. The final splicing machine has been modelled in wood and its operation concepts verified. The interim splices have been completed and delivered. During these tasks a novel method of scribing and breaking fibers has been implemented, tested, and verified.

During the coming final phase of this program the first machined "brassboard" FESK III, now on order, will be received. Its operation will be checked, any necessary corrections will be made, and the final 5 machines fabricated. The 5 interim splices will be fully tested under the specified environmental conditions and any shortcomings analyzed and corrected in the final splice design. 50 fullytooled final splice housings will then be ordered for delivery to CECOM with the kits at the end of the program.

Based on the encouraging results to date and the simplicity and effectiveness of the latest Field Expedient Splice Kit, it is anticipated that the final results of this program will fulfill every expectation.

-33-

4. **REFERENCES**

 Woods, John G. "Field Expedient Repair of Fiber Optic Cable", 2nd Semi-Annual Report, #CECOM 80-81-C-0085-2, November, 1982. REPSRT DISTRIMITION Centract 113. DAAR 80-81-C-0035

Delense Technical Info Center ATTN: DTIC-TCA Cameron Station (Building 5) Alexandria, VA 22314 (12 copies) Director National Security Agency ATTN: TDL Fort George G. Meade, MD 20755

Code kl23, Tech Library DCA Defense Comm Engrg Ctr 1860 Wiehle Avenue Reston, VA 22090 Defense Communications Agency Technical Library Center Code 205 (P. A. Tolovi) Washimyton, DC 20305

Office of Naval Research Code 427 Arlington, VA 22217 GIDEP Engineering & Support Dept TE Section PO Box 398 Norco, CA 91760

CDR, MICOM Redstone Scientific Info Center ATTM: Chief, Document Section Redstone Arsenal, AL 35809

Commander NQ Fort Nuachuca ATTN: Technical Reference Div Fort Nuachuca, A2 85613

Director Naval Research Laboratory ATTN: Code 2627 Washington, DC 20375 Command, Control & Communications Div Development Center Marine Corps Development & Educ Comd Quantico, VA 22134

Naval Telecommunications Command Technical Library, Code 91L 4401 Massachusetts Avenue, NW Washinyton, DC 20390

Rome Air Develoyment Center ATTW: Documents Library (TILD) Griffiss AFB, NY 13441

liQ ESD (DRI) L. G. Hanscom AFB Bedford, AA 01731 NQDC (DAMA-ARP/Dr. F. D. Verderame) Washinyton, DC 20310

Director US Army Human Engineering Labs Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD 21005

Commander US Army Electronic Proving Ground ATTN: STEEP-MT Fort Nuachuca, AZ 85613

Commander USASA Test & Evaluation Conter ATTH: IAO-CDR-T Fort Nuachuca, AZ 85613 Dir, US Army Air Nobility RiD Lab ArTN: T. Gossett, Bldg 207-5 MASA Ames Research Center Moffett Picld, CA 94035

HÇDA (DAMO-TCE) Washington, DC 20310 Deputy for Science & Technology Office, Assist Sec Army (R&D) Washington, DC 20310

Commander, DARCOM ATTN: DRCDE 5001 Eisenhower Avenue Alexandria, VA 22333

US Marines C3 Division Quantico, VA 22134 ATTN: GSGT M. Collins CDK, US Army Signals Warfare Lab Arru: DELSW-AQ Arlington Hall Station Arlington, VA 22212

Commander Combined Arms Center ATTN: ATZL-CAC-IA(CPT Lynn) Fort Leavenworth, KA 66027

6

Ulrector Joint Comm Office (TRI-TAC) ATTN: 1T-AD (Tech Docu Cen) Fort Monmouth, 2J 07703 Commander HQ. 9th Infantry Division & Ft. Lewis ATTN: AFZH-HTTB-CDCC (MAJ Davis) Fort Lewis, Washington 98433

TRI-TAC Office ATTN: TT-SE (Dr. Pritchard) Fort Monmouth, NJ 07703 CDR, US Army Research Office ATTN: DRXRO-IP PO Box 12211 Research Triangle Park, NC 27709 Advisory Group on Electron Devices 201 Varick Street, 9th Floor New York, NY 10014 Advisory Group on Electron Devices ATTN: Secy, Working Group D (Lasers) 201 Varick Street Ncw York, NY 10014

TACTEC Battelle Memorial Institute 505 King Avenue Columbus, OH 43201

Corning Glass Works Telecommunication Prod Dept Corning, NY 14830 ATTN: F. Quan

Stevens Institute of Technology ATTN: Dr. G.J. Herskowitz Castle Point Station Hoboken, 3J 0703

Deutsch Co. Elec Components Div Municipal Airport Ranning, CA 92220 General Cable Corporation ATTN: Mr. M. Tenzer 160 Fieldcrest Avenue Edison, NJ C8317 President Communications Electronics Board AJTN: ATSH-BD-TE Fort Gordon, GA 30905

NKA Incorporated 40 Beechwood Raod Lincroft, NJ 07738 ATTN: J.R. Dunlap Hughes Aircraft Corporation Tucson Systems Engrg Dept PO Box 802, Room 600 Tucson, AZ 85734 ATTN: Mr. D. Fox

Relden Corporation Technical Research Center 2000 S. Patavil Avenue Genevu, IL 60134 ATTN: Mr. J. McCurthy

C

Uptelecon, Inc. 15940 Luanne Drive Gaithersburg, MD 20760 Eell Telephone Laboratories Whippany Road Whippany, NJ 07981 ATTN: Mr. G. A. Baker Harris Electronics Systems Division PO Box 37 Melbourne, FL 32901 ATTN: Mr. R. Stachouse Piber Optics Plant Rodes Boulevard ITT Defense Communications Division 492 River Road Nutley, NJ 07110 ATTN: V. Mordowite

Defense Electronics Supply Center ATTN: DESC-EMT (Arthur Hudson) Dayton, OH 45444 GTE Sylanvia Inc. Communications System Division 77 A Street Needham Heights, MA 02194 ATTN: Mr. J. Caggiano

Maval Ocean Systems Center Hawaii Laboratory 1205 Akamai Street Kailua. Hawaii 96734 ATTN: G. Wilkins Harris Corporation Government Communications System Division PO Box 92000 Melbcurne, FL 32901 ATTN: R.M. Painter

Spec Tran Corporation Hall Road Sturbridge, MA 01566 ATTN: Dr. R. Yaeger

Siecor/Optical Cable PO Box 610 Hickory, NC 28603 ATTN: M.G. Massarani Naval.Ocean System Center ATTN: Steven Cowen, Code 521 271 Catalina Blvd San Diego, CA 92152

Commander ERADCOM Flight Test Activity ATTN: DELAF (J. Mac Namara) Lakehurst, NJ 08733 Commander 101st Airborne Division (AASLT) ATTN: AFZB-SO (MAJ Reeves) Fort Campbell, KY 42223

Booz-Allen and Hamilton ATTN: B.D. DeMarinis 776 Shrewsbury Avenue Tinton Falls, NJ 07724 Xerox Electro-Optical Systems ATTN: Mr. R.E. Purkis 300 North Halstead Street Pasadena, CA 91107 Commander US Army Missile R&D Command ATTN: DRSMI-RDD.(R. Powell) Redstone Arsenal, AL 35898

The Mitre Corporation ATTN: Scott Large PO Box 208 Bedford, MA 01730 Martin Marietta Aerospace ATTN: Dr. G.L. Harmon Orlando Division PO Box 5837 MP-3 Orlando, FL 32805 Naval Ocean Systems Center ATTN: Howard Rast, Jr. Code 8115 271 Catalina Blvd San Diego, CA 92152 Bell Laboratories 2000 N.E. Expressway Norcross, GA 30071 ATTN: James A. Aberson, Jr., Lightguide Joining Group

Reliability Analysis Center ATTN: RADC/RBRAC (I.L. Krulac) Griffiss AFB, NY 13441

Commander US Army MERADCOM ATTN: DRDME-XIC (J.A. Karick) Ft. Belvoir, VA 22060 Commander US Army Training & Doctrine Command Afili: ATCU-TEC Fort Munroe, VA 23651 Commander US Army Truining & Doctrine Command XYTN: AYCD-TM Fort Monroe, VA 2365] NASA Scientific & Tech Info Pacility Baltimore/Washington Intl Airport PO Box 8757, MD 21240

Project Manager, ATACS ATTN: DRCPM-ATC-IM (Mr. J. Velasquez) Fort Monmouth, NJ 07703

Moneywell. Inc. Communication Technology Tech Strategy Center 1700 West Mwy 36 St. Paul, Minn 55113 Commander USACECOM Fort Monmouth, NJ 07703 ATTH: DRSEL-COM-RM-1 (C. Loscoe)

8 copies)

GTE Sylvania, Inc. Connector Products Operation RD #2 Box 29 Titusville, PA 16354 ATTN: Mr. D. Knecht

G

CDR, US Army Avionics Lab AVRADCOM ATTN: DAVAA-D Fort Monmouth, NJ 07703 Times Fiber Comm, Inc. 358 Hall Avenue, ATTN: Dr. D. Pirnow Wallingford, CT 06492

Bell Northern Research PO Box 3511, Station C Ottawa, Canada Kly 4N7 Valtec Corporation 99 Hartwell Street West Boylston, MA 01583 ATTN: Dr. 1.D. Aggarwal Hughes Research Laboratory 3011 Malibu Canyon Road Malibu, CA 90265 ATTN: Dr. G. Tangonan

MAJ Bob Warren HQ, USAF/RDST Washington, DC 20330

Collins Radio Telecommunication Products Div 855 35th Street N.E. Cedar Rapids, Iowa 52498 ATTN: Mr. Duane Weltha Mail Station 137-148

ITT Cannon PO Box 8040 Mountain View, CA 92708 ATTN: Mr. L. Borsuk Boeing Aerospace PO Box 3999 Seattle, WA 98124 ATTN: Mr. Owen R. Mulkey

Litton Data Systems 8000 Woodley Avenue Van Nuys, CA 91409 ATTN: Mr. R.F. Bergfeld Bausch and Lomb Instruments and Systems Division 42 East Avenue Rochester, NY 14603 ATTN: Mr. Willard W. Hunter Naval Avionics Center 6000 East 21st Street Attn: Sukhbir Singh, Code D/813 Indianapolis, IN 46218 Department of the Army US Army Human Engineering Laboratory Attn: DRXHE~CC (R.Phelps) Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD 21005

Defense Nuclear Agency P.O. Box 208 Mercury, Nevada 89023 Attn: Capt. Dan Fredal

Dr. Roger A. Greenwell Naval Ocean Systems Center Code 7313 San Diego, California 92152

6

